

REVIEW OF CONCEPTUAL ADVANCES IN DISTURBANCE INTERACTIONS

Phase One: Knowledge Synthesis, Knowledge Gaps, and Next Steps



Canadian Council of Forest Ministers



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword01
Context01
Introduction02
Conceptual Advances in Disturbance Ecology – A Brief Primer03
Objectives
Approach04
Disturbance Interactions
Knowledge Synthesis05
Knowledge Gaps21
Disturbance Impacts24
Conceptual Advances and Disturbance Interactions Modeling24
Theory and Practice
Challenges and Prospects25
Discussion26
Summary26
Proposed Next Steps for 2023/202427
References28
Appendix - Glossary of Disturbance Interactions42

Review of Conceptual Advances in Disturbance Interactions Phase One Knowledge Synthesis Knowledge Gaps and Next Steps



FOREWORD

The following document discusses forest pest disturbance interactions and conceptual modeling advances as informed by two Forest Pest Working Group workshops, grey literature, anecdotal observations, and peer-reviewed articles, including recent systematic, meta-analysis, or selective reviews. While attempts were made to include as much relevant literature as possible, it was impossible to include everything given time constraints, coupled with the recent abundance of pertinent literature. Hence, this document should not be considered an exhaustive review.





CONTEXT

The Forest Pest Working Group (FPWG) under the Canadian Council of Forest Ministers (CCFM) is working towards best practices for analysis, decision-making and action to make forest pest management in Canada more proactive, more coordinated, and ultimately more effective. Its work focuses on developing and implementing a National Forest Pest Strategy, providing an integrated framework for prevention, detection, and response. The aim is to help all the jurisdictions involved work together to maintain healthy forests and a sustainable forest sector. This is achieved through collaborative efforts between provincial, territorial, municipal, and federal governments under the National Forest Pest Strategy with annual work plans based on national interests.

Over the last decade, the FPWG has undertaken various projects to better understand the effects of climate change on forest insects and diseases to inform proactive forest pest management and, ultimately, adaptation. This included a vulnerability assessment of forest health monitoring (FHM) policies and practices, which identified several adaptation options to build adaptive capacity to help reduce FHM vulnerability to climate change. In 2022 the FPWG advanced this theme in terms of adaptation and disturbance interaction impacts in recognition that: 1) forest disturbance agents (e.g., fire, drought, insect outbreaks, and pathogens) are expected to catalyze ecosystem changes in a warming climate, and 2) the cumulative effects of interacting disturbances could have serious consequences on future forests and the socioeconomic and ecological values derived from them. The first step, documented here, is a knowledge synthesis of disturbance interactions, associated knowledge gaps and uncertainties, and insight into current forest modeling applications addressing disturbance interactions.



INTRODUCTION

Forest insects and diseases are integral components of Canada's forests; however, climate change is modifying the extent, severity, and frequency of their historical disturbance regimes. Resultant changes may challenge the ability to meet sustainable forest management objectives under future conditions. There exists the potential for amplified, cascading, or cross-scale effects which could exceed ecological thresholds or tipping points, particularly in coniferous forests and the boreal biome (Seidl et al. 2017), including southern boreal (Brecka et al. 2020, Frelich et al. 2021, Chaste et al. 2019, Boulanger et al. 2021); Acadian (Taylor et al. 2017); and the Arctic boreal forest zones (Foster et al. 2022). This could result in more frequent unanticipated behaviour in ecological systems, referred to as ecological surprises (Filbee-Dexter et al. 2017). In fact, a systematic review of global climate sensitivity of six disturbance factors (fire, drought, wind, snow and ice, insects, and pathogens) found that 71% of the recorded interaction effects had an amplifying effect. In contrast, only 16% had a dampening effect (Seidl et al. 2017).

Alterations to natural disturbance regimes due to climate change will challenge the ability to meet sustainable management goals. This is due to the uncertainty around the magnitude and spatial and temporal dynamics of disturbance change and the lack of knowledge about disturbance interactions and ecosystem thresholds. Warming climate could also facilitate the spread and establishment of invasive forest pests that may have otherwise failed to establish. In the context of change and uncertainty, forest managers need information on and likelihood the magnitude of altered disturbance interactions and regimes and the resulting impact(s) on forest conditions in a warming climate to help guide adaptation and inform forest management planning over the long term.

Fundamental to adaptation is the means to assess potential impacts arising from climate-mediated in disturbance reaimes. changes While retrospective insights have their place e.g., historical forest pest regimes, they are not representative of future climate-mediated landscapes and therefore have limited application. Conceptual advances in disturbance ecology offer a means to characterize disturbance interactions and help inform adaptation using conceptual models. This field of study has grown in recognition of the potential for rapid, non-linear, and unexpected forest change due to climate change and anthropogenic pressure, including forest fragmentation. Conceptual models are process-driven and capable of integrating disturbance interactions, cause, and effect at varying temporal and spatial scales. A recent review of conceptual advances and empirical disturbance approaches to interaction investigation (Sturtevant and Fortin, 2021) revealed how recent studies have shifted from statisticallybased disturbance regimes (i.e., static) to processbased methods where disturbance regimes and ecosystem responses are emergent behaviors (i.e., dynamic).

In the face of increasing uncertainty regarding forest disturbance change, the need to qualify and quantify disturbance interactions and ecosystem thresholds is essential for adaptation. Yet, a lack of knowledge and model integration limits our ability to do so. A first step towards bridging this gap is to characterize the current state of knowledge of disturbance interactions, with an emphasis on forest insects and diseases, and conceptual models to provide a baseline from which to assess and forecast future states. This will help identify uncertainties and knowledge gaps to guide further conversations between forest health and forest management experts around knowledge gaps, uncertainties, and information and research needs. These could be tailored to

specific regions of Canada and include interdisciplinary collaboration to advance our understanding of disturbance interactions and application in forest management.

CONCEPTUAL ADVANCES IN DISTURBANCE ECOLOGY – A BRIEF PRIMER

Conceptual advances in the context of disturbance ecology seek to provide a common understanding of disturbance interactions and their processes. This includes terminology and definitions to describe these processes, facilitating a common approach to integrating disturbance interactions into process-based methods. The following section, describing disturbance interactions and processes, borrows from the works by Buma (2015), Kleinman et al. (2019), and Burton et al. (2020), with additional terms and definitions provided in Appendix 1.

Broadly speaking, disturbances affect either forest ecosystem resistance, e.g., the capacity to endure disturbance without changing, or resilience, e.g., the capacity of a forested ecosystem to recover to pre-disturbance conditions, with the new system state referred to as a disturbance or biological legacy. Disturbance legacies that alter resistance by increasing or decreasing the likelihood of the subsequent disturbance, its spatial extent (likelihood at a location), intensity, or severity are known as linked disturbances. Disturbance legacies that alter resilience, e.g., the rate or trajectory of forest recovery from subsequent disturbances, are referred to as compound interactions. Thus, disturbance interactions develop when legacies are functionally connected to а subsequent disturbance event, either in terms of disturbance drivers or recovery mechanisms. Linked and compound disturbances can originate from the same event.

Linked and compound interactions can potentially drive disturbance behaviour beyond historical norms and in unexpected directions due to cascading effects, e.g., a sequence of more than two disturbances, each triggered by the preceding one. When one disturbance enhances the impact of another by decreasing resistance or resilience, the interaction is considered amplifying or synergistic. Alternatively, buffering, dampening or negative interactions describe situations when one disturbance reduces the impact of another by increasing resistance or resilience. Cross-scale interactions refer to processes at one spatial or temporal scale interacting with processes at another scale that often results in nonlinear dynamics with thresholds (Peters et al. 2007). Cumulative effects are the net impact of multiple disturbances, degradation. stressors, or Regardless of the type of interaction, their temporal and spatial characteristics, feedback loops, and ecosystem thresholds are all critical components of disturbance interaction investigation.

OBJECTIVES

The overall goal of this FPWG project is to synthesize current advances in conceptual models of forest disturbance interactions and their combined impacts on forest values based on an understanding of the improved underlying ecosystem processes involved and anticipated climate-induced forest change. The first phase, documented here, is a knowledge synthesis of disturbance interactions, associated knowledge gaps and uncertainties, and insight into current forest modeling applications addressing disturbance interactions.

APPROACH

Two virtual knowledge synthesis workshops were held with participants from across Canada representing academia, federal and provincial researchers, and provincial and territorial forest management agencies. Affirmative pest statements were used to help characterize disturbances and identify knowledge gaps and uncertainties. Affirmative statements are a tool used in various National Forest Pest Strategy pest risk analyses. They are intended to encourage discussion and distil evidence to support or refute the statements. In this instance, they also served as a starting point for discussion, given the complexity of interacting disturbances.

Four affirmative statements were developed; three focused on an abiotic trigger, and one on modeling and its current ability to inform adaptation and forest management. The three abiotic statements represent a selection of scenarios being observed across the Canadian landscape as identified by a Task Team which was formed for this project. Scenarios included those concerning drought, severe storms, and warming climate and extreme weather. Severe storms differ from extreme weather in that the latter is defined as an event that ranks above a threshold value near the upper or lower ends of the range of historical measurements. The fourth statement addressed modeling as it applies to disturbance interactions and the ability to inform forest pest management.

Workshop participants engaged in discussion for each affirmative statement and provided supporting or refuting evidence for each, including peer-reviewed works. As some of the workshop discussions involved wildfire and pest interactions that extended beyond those of the affirmative statements, a section is devoted to wildfire in the context of those discussions.

DISTURBANCE INTERACTIONS

The following section summarizes the state of disturbance interaction knowledge and knowledge gaps as informed by the evidence brought forth at the workshops, grey literature, peer-reviewed works and anecdotal observations for disturbance interaction scenarios involving drought, severe storms, and warming climate and extreme weather. As some of the evidence or knowledge gaps originate from work conducted in United States forests, there lies uncertainty about their applicability to Canada's forests. Nonetheless, they serve as a good starting or reference point for further work or discussion.

KNOWLEDGE SYNTHESIS

In addition to pest-specific evidence brought forward at the workshops, recent systematic, meta-analysis, or selective reviews (Table 1) provided for broad summary statements at the forest pest guild level. A compilation of climatemediated changes to forest pest disturbances was previously completed by the FPWG Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment.

REFERENCE	GEOGRAPHIC SCOPE	TOPIC	REVIEW PERIOD
Fettig et al. 2022	North America	Fire and insect interations	2017 - 2022
Canelles et al. 2021	Global	Interactions between insect pests and other disturbances	1990-2019
Kolb et al. 2019	United States	Drought impacts on forest insects and diseases	1987-2014
Pureswaran et al. 2018	North America	Forest insects and climate change	2013-2017
Seidl et al. 2017	Global	Forest disturbances under climate change	1990-2017
Jactel et al. 2012	Global	Drought effects on damage by forest insects and pathogens	Unknown

Table 1. Systematic, meta-analysis or selective literature reviews of disturbance interactions research.

DROUGHT

In a global review of drought and heat-induced tree mortality, the authors concluded that all forested ecosystems were vulnerable, including those not considered water-limited (Allen et al. 2010). In Canada, drought and wildfire are expected to significantly impact the wood supply and productivity of the southern boreal forest (Brecka et al. 2020). Drought affects both the host and the forest pest, with host response and sensitivity varying by tree species (Aubin et al. 2018) and location (Peng et al. 2011), and forest pest by feeding guild. Community associations, including synchrony of natural enemies, are also affected by drought but have been less studied through a climate change lens.

The severity, frequency, and duration of the drought influence the nature of the response for both host and forest pest. While drought alone can cause tree mortality, it can also act as an abiotic stressor predisposing trees to biotic factors and influencing subsequent disturbances. Chronic or repeated low-intensity drought events may have a bigger influence on tree mortality than an extreme drought event, with higher mortality rates reported for trembling aspen and shade tolerant species following sequential low-intensity droughts in Canada's boreal forests (Sánchez-Pinillos et al. 2021). When looking solely at climate suitability, the cumulative effects of all disturbances are forecast to shift southern boreal biomes to more temperate forests during the 21st century (Frelich et al. 2021).

Jactel et al. (2012), Kolb et al. (2016), Pureswaran et al. (2018), and Canelles et al. (2021) provide the most recent reviews of the effects of drought on forest insects and diseases. Except for Jactel et al. (2012), the authors organize their findings by feeding guild or pathogen group, and hence the following statements are grouped as such. The following are broad findings at the feeding guild or disturbance level from the above-noted systematic reviews:

- Non-linear drought response for bark beetles in western US forests with moderate drought stress negatively affects bark beetle populations, whereas intense drought stress positively affects populations. This is due to reduced host defense mechanisms from water stress and warmer temperatures resulting in increased survival rates and voltinism.
- In eastern US forests, there was no observed evidence of drought influencing southern pine beetle.
- Effects of drought on the defoliator guild are inconclusive in that both positive, e.g., increased nitrogen levels in foliage improve larval performance and negative impacts, e.g., increased secondary metabolites inhibiting larval performance, have been reported.
- Moderate droughts followed by precipitation result in the greatest performance and impacts of sapsuckers, such as hemlock woolly adelgid.
- Forest pathogen response to drought varies with primary pathogens, e.g., rusts, Phytophthora, and leaf and needle pathogens, potentially decreasing due to lower moisture levels, and secondary pathogens that colonize stressed trees, e.g., root diseases, responding favorably, resulting in increasing levels of host mortality.
- Climate e.g., hotter and drier, plays a key role in aspen decline mortality, with forest insects and herbivores playing a secondary role and having more influence on growth reductions than mortality.
- Drought can have both a short-term increase in wildfire activity and a long-term decrease in wildfire activity; the latter due to increased fuels and the former due to changes in forest

characteristics, including species, structure, and density.

- Drier and warmer weather will increase the incidence of short-interval reburning in northwestern boreal forests and amplify the ecological changes these events cause because wildfire activity and post-fire drought increase synergistically. These interacting disturbances will accelerate climate-driven changes in future boreal forest structure and composition (Whitman et al. 2019).
- Host vulnerability to forest pests following drought is inconclusive; some studies suggest reduced vulnerability due to a less favorable environment, while others suggest increased vulnerability due to damage to roots or crown from biotic factors.

Table 2 summarizes specific evidence and projections of drought-mediated abiotic and biotic disturbance interactions.

Table 2.Evidence and projections of drought-mediated abiotic and biotic disturbances by geographic area (limited to Canada and US), forest type, and interaction.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
			ABIOTIC	
Foster et al. 2022	NWT	Permafrost areas	Fire- permafrost thaw-flooding	Amplified effects - Increased permafrost thawing after significant wildfire years, which follow big drought years. Increased flooding due to permafrost thawing (pers comm. J. Olesinski, November 2022).
Chen et al. 2017	AB	Boreal aspen	Decline	Drought more responsible for decline. Hardwood defoliators (FTC, LAT) both had spatiotemporal variability; future outbreaks could be triggered by earlier springs rather than drought.
Harvey et al. 2021, Smith et al. 2015	Rocky Mountains	Sub-alpine fir	Decline	Cross-scale interactions between site, drought, and decline.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Michaelian et al. 2010	SK and AB	Boreal aspen	Decline	Significant drought mortality (20%) in the study area versus 7% in areas which had no drought.
Woods et al. 2010	BC	All	Decline/dieback	Forecast - Warming climate and drought likely to lead to drought or climate- related decline in several tree species.
Refsland and Cushman 2021	North America	Aspen	Decline	Elevated mortality and reduced growth rates in aspen associated with hotter, drier climate conditions, followed by increased competition and insect herbivory, including FTC and aspen serpentine leafminer. Interactions among spatial and temporal variation in climate and climate and insect herbivory affected tree growth.
Bigler et al. 2017	US Rocky Mountains	High elevation	Mortality	Subalpine-fir and Engelmann spruce were more susceptible to drought- induced mortality than lodgepole pine— trees with poor growth were more likely to die.
Observation	SK	Shelterbelts	Mortality	Mortality/failure in mature white spruce in shelterbelts in the prairie ecozone.
Worrall et al. 2013	North America	Aspen	Frost-pests- decline	Decline-amplified effects from forest tent caterpillar and other secondary pests; frost a factor in decline in some areas.

author/ Type	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Boiffin et al. 2013	QC	Black spruce	Fire	Large wildfire years following drought periods led to unfavourable post-fire conditions for black spruce and the probability of regeneration failure and/or shift to jack pine forests.
			BIOTIC	
Kolb et al. 2019, Erbilgin et al. 2021	Arizona	Ponderosa pine	Bark beetles	Experimental - Drought alters tree defense mechanisms to bark beetles.
Agne et al. 2018	Pacific North- west (PNW)	Douglas-fir	DFB, DRB	Moisture stress predisposing trees to attack by Douglas-fir beetle and secondary insects that vector DRB.
Maclauchlan and Brooks 2020	BC	High elevation	BBW	Increased incidence causing mortality of sub-alpine fir following drought, often in association with western balsam bark beetle. It can be considered or be treated as either a primary or secondary pest.
Observation	MB, SK, ON	Eastern Iarch	LBB	Increased incidence of mortality in association with drought.
Preisler et al. 2012	Washing- ton, Oregon	Lodgepole pine	MPB	The effect of drought on tree mortality can vary depending on lag time and outbreak duration.
Hart et al. 2014	Colorado	Spruce	SBB	Drought alters tree defense mechanisms to bark beetles.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Garbutt et al. 2006	Yukon	White spruce	SBB	Outbreak intensified due to drought-stressed trees and warmer summers, which led to one-year cycling.
Observation	SK	Grasslands	WABB	Increased mortality of ash trees in grassland parks.
Howe et al. 2022	BC	Sub-alpine fir	WBBB	Elevational and latitudinal range expansion - Increase in growing season, degree day accumulation, and drought stress.
Howe et al. 2022	BC	High elevation	WBB	Drought stress influences western balsam bark beetle outbreaks.
Koontz et al. 2021	California	Ponderosa pine	WPB	Cross-scale interactions between forest and tree attributes, drought, and mortality rates.
Robbins et al. 2022	California	Ponderosa pine	WPB	30% increase in host mortality compared to increasing temperatures alone due to WPB assiated with drought.
Observation	SK	Cypress Hills	IPS, DSA	Pine engraver beetle attacked trees predisposed by Armillaria and Atropellis stem canker.
Woods et al. 2010	BC	Lodgepole pine	Secondary insects	Extensive mortality of young lodgepole pine plantations due to drought and secondary insects.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Moise et al. 2019	NB	Balsam fir	ESBW	Experimental - Study found that stand density had more influence than drought on spruce budworm performance under outbreak conditions.
Balducci et al. 2021	Eastern boreal	Balsam fir, black spruce	ESBW	Defoliation preceding drought increases tree resistance to drought due to fewer photosynthetic and transpiration surfaces.
ltter et al. 2019	Eastern and western boreal	East – coniferous forests West – mixed wood	East - ESBW West - FTC	Insect defoliation may offset the impacts of water deficit on boreal tree growth by reducing transpirational water demand.
Observation	NWT	Aspen	FTC	Two major FTC outbreaks followed extreme drought years.
Observation	0C	Maple	FTC	Interaction between mortality, defoliation, and drought stress.
Cooke and Roland, 2007	ON	Boreal	FTC	Drought had no discernible impact on tree growth, while FTC did.
Michaelian et al. (in press)	Canada	Aspen	FTC	When drought and defoliation overlap, there is amplification of disturbances.

AUTHOR/ TYPE	AREA	FOREST TYPE	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Volney and Fleming 2000	Ontario	Jackpine	JPBW	Drought 7–4 years before an outbreak was strongly associated with the onset of Jackpine budworm defoliation in Canada. Drought triggers flower production, which influences JPBW outbreaks.
Woods et al. 2010	BC	Douglas-fir	WSBW-DFB	Drought and/or predisposition by western spruce budworm defoliation factors in Douglas-fir beetle outbreaks.
Observation	AB, SK	Jack pine	DM	Mortality of dwarf mistletoe infected jack pine – could increase fire risk.
Kolb et al. 2016	Western US	Host species	DM	Mistletoe-infected trees predisposed to bark beetle and wood borers during drought periods.
Cruickshank and Filipescu 2017	BC	Douglas-fir	DRA	Experimental - Changes to wood properties following DRA infection increase drought tolerance. More frequent droughts may select for trees with higher resistance to DRA.
Hennon et al. 2020	Canada/U S	Western white pine	Western white pine pole blight	Drought-site interactions causing decline of western white pine.

DFB=Douglas-fir beetle; BBW = balsam bark weevil; LBB=larch beetle; MPB=mountain pine beetle; SBB=spruce beetle; WABB = western ash bark beetle; WBBB=western balsam bark beetle; WPB=western pine beetle; IPS=pine engraver beetle; ESBW=eastern spruce budworm; FTC=forest tent caterpillar; JPBW=jack pine budworm; LAT=large aspen tortrix; WSBW=western spruce budworm, DM=dwarf mistletoes, DRA=Armillaria root disease, DRB=Blackstain root disease; DSA=Atropellis stem canker. Observations are from provincial or territorial forest pest managers.

SEVERE STORMS

Severe storms, such as rain, wind, snow and ice, and hail, have the potential to cause significant damage to forested landscapes. Depending upon the severity of the storms, they could also be classified as extreme weather events, discussed in the next section. Severe storm damage can occur at the tree, stand or landscape level with varying spatial patterns depending upon storm intensities. In addition, storm legacies could increase the risk of other disturbances such as primary and secondary beetles, pathogens, and wildfires. Although limited, research on severe storms generally focuses on the storm's legacy and resultant disturbance interactions.

- Severe weather in NWT during the 2021 heat dome was responsible for intense thunderstorms and downbursts, causing wind damage to over 20,000 hectares, with satellite imagery review revealing continuous visible tree damage for more than 60 km and up to 9 km wide.
- Severe storms in the boreal forest are unpredictable spatially and temporally, with relatively minor impacts at a landscape level (Bouchard et al. 2009).
- Increased frequency of windstorms combined with fire will favor succession of deciduous species in the southern boreal forests of Minnesota (Anoszko et al. 2022)
- Cumulative winter storm damage, e.g., downed, and damaged trees, precipitated spruce beetle outbreak in NE BC.
- Hurricane Juan provided for population buildup and expansion of an invasive pest, brown spruce longhorn beetle, into native forests.
- Bark beetles killed the remaining healthy trees following the 2012 winter storm in MB.
- Severe storms often include lightning, which could lead to wildfires.

- Findings from 1998 ice storm studies (Ryall and Smith 2001, Ryall and Smith 2005, Ryall et al. 2006, Deschênes et al. 2019, Lloren et al. 2020):
 - Ice storm damage varied by stand characteristics, including tree species for both conifer and deciduous trees. In red pine plantations, damage was greatest in poorly managed, overstocked stands.
 - In deciduous stands, resilience to ice storms increased the further away damage was to stand edge (QC), while the opposite was true for conifer stands (ON).
 - Trees in the interior of red pine plantations were three to five times more likely to be damaged (ON).
 - The most damaged portions of deciduous stands are less resilient and more likely to shift community composition.
 - There was a landscape context in that the short-term effects of storm damage in deciduous stands were magnified where there was less forest on the surrounding landscape and farther from the forest edge.
 - There were no observed interactions between the degree of ice storm damage and beech scale but suspected interaction with beech bark disease.
 - Pine engraver beetle and whitespotted sawyer beetle preferentially attacked trees damaged by the ice storm and did not colonize healthy trees in Ontario red pine plantations. Populations pulsed in relationship to the availability of stressed and damaged trees.

WARMING CLIMATE AND EXTREME WEATHER

Forest insects are particularly temperaturesensitive and influenced by environmental conditions. As such, most of the responses of forest insects to warming climate are expected to be positive, with shorter generation time, higher fecundity and survival, leading to range expansion and outbreaks (Jactel 2019). Currano et al. (2008) noted that increased CO2 and foliar nitrogen could also lead to increased insect feeding and damage, as evidenced in a previous global warming event (Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM)), and reduced defence mechanisms in broadleaves due to thinner leaves (Li et al. 2016). Similarly, De Grandpré et al. (2022) found increased host nutritional value from spruce budworm frass and litter deposition and posit that such conditions could lead to self-amplifying defoliator populations and the ability to drive broad-scale outbreaks. Lower parasitism levels could also contribute to more frequent outbreaks (Pureswaran et al. 2018). however. Warmer weather. could lead to phenological mismatching and modifications to forest insect thermal regimes such that seasonality could be disrupted.

Forest pathogen response to warming climate will depend upon moisture levels; hence the 'warmer and wetter' or 'warmer and drier' approach adopted by the USDA to describe climate-mediated changes to forest diseases. Under a climate change scenario of warmer and drier future conditions, Sturrock et al. (2011) predicted that diseases caused by pathogens directly affected by climate (e.g., Dothistroma needle blight) will have a reduced or unchanged impact on their hosts but an increased impact under a scenario of warmer and wetter conditions. For diseases caused by pathogens indirectly affected by climate (e.g., armillaria root disease) and for decline diseases in general, Sturrock et al. (2011) predicted an increased impact on hosts under a climate-change

scenario of warmer and drier future conditions and a reduced or unchanged impact under warmer and wetter future conditions. Overall, forest pathogen damage is expected to increase based on observed and predicted forest pathogen interactions with changes in temperature and precipitation (Teshome et al. 2020).

In a recent review of forest disturbance interactions, Seidl et al. (2017) found that temperature-related variables were the most prominent climatic drivers reported in the forest disturbance literature (42.0%), and the effects on the disturbance regime were highest in the boreal biome. Range expansion of multiple biotic factors in North America have occurred due to temperature-mediated phenological changes to host or forest pest. Better winter survival and development rates, or increased voltinism, have already been observed for eastern spruce budworm, southern pine beetle, mountain pine beetle, hemlock woolly adelgid, and spongy moth (Pureswaran et al. 2018). Examples of failed range expansion include that of eastern hemlock looper in Cote Nord, Ouébec, which was abruptly halted by two extreme cold waves in one winter (Delisle et al. 2019). Of interest is that the warming pattern, which preceded dispersal, was like that which occurred for the Autumnal moth, Epirrita autumnata, in the birch forests of Fenno-Scandia, where it was successful in expanding its range (Delisle et al. 2019).

Extreme weather events are those breaching normal thresholds and can result from temperature, precipitation, or wind. Such events will have variable effects on forest pests and their hosts, depending on their type, severity, and spatiotemporal characteristics. Extreme temperatures have the potential to cause extensive damage due to phenological disturbances and acute tree stress and include both extreme heat, e.g., heat domes, and extreme cold, e.g., polar vortexes. Acute stress causes a resource pulse, while chronic stress leads to a press or resource degradation. Multiple biotic or abiotic stressors can increase vulnerability to subsequent stressors and thus change the dynamics of an ecosystem (Nolet and Kneeshaw, 2018). In terms of phenological disturbances, extensive areas could be affected since persistent mid-latitude ridges in the jet stream, that lead to long periods of anomalously warm weather, are becoming more common as the Arctic warms and can occur at subcontinental spatial extents (Frelich et al. 2021). Acute stress resulting from one or more extreme events, or co-occurring biotic and abiotic events, could also amplify pest-related tree mortality (De Grandpré et al. 2019).

Table 3 summarizes both evidence and projections of warming climate or extreme weather-mediated abiotic and biotic disturbance interactions.

Table 3. Evidence and projections of abiotic and biotic disturbances resulting from warming climate or extreme weather by geographic area (limited to Canada and US), forest type, and interaction.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT			
Foster et al. 2022	NWT	Arctic boreal	All	Amplified effects of all disturbances with potential for persistent shifts in vegetation composition and increased colonization and spread of non-native and invasive plant species.			
	ABIOTIC						
Girardin et al. 2022	Canada	All species	Cold season freeze	Changes in cold season freeze frequency a benefit to pine species.			
Observation	ON	Jack pine	Extreme cold	Cold snap following bud burst led to dieback and some mortality in jack pine plantations over 1M ha.			
Observation	ON	Trembling aspen	Decline	Aspen decline symptoms over 15M ha due to lack of snow.			

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Comeau et al., 2019; 2021; Comeau and Daniels, 2022	Haida Gwaii	Yellow cedar	Warmer winters with low precipitation	Freezing damage to roots due to warm winter temperatures and low winter precipitation led to decline; exacerbated by Pacific Decadal Oscillation.
Hennon et al. 2012	Alaska	Yellow cedar	Warmer winters, lower snowpack, and cold springs	More frequent winter warming favored limited cold hardening and lower snowpack that reduced the protection of roots by snow.
Nolet and Kneeshaw (2018)	QC	Maple, beech	Freeze-thaw, drought, forest tent caterpillar	Freeze-thaw event followed by drought and FTC defoliation over a 3-year period negatively affected hard maple recovery with much lesser impact on beech.
Observation	SK	Conifers	High water table and Monochamus	Pine stands on the edge of harvest block stressed by high water table subsequently killed by Monochamus.
Observation	NWT	Trembling aspen	Heat dome – severe storms – windthrow	Extreme temperatures led to severe storms, which resulted in windthrow of 20,000 ha of aspen.
Observation	AB	Boreal	Heat dome	Defoliator populations crashed the year following the heat dome.
Observation	NW ON	Jack pine	Extreme weather	Extreme cold after bud flush caused dieback and some morality to jack pine plantations over 1M ha.
Woods et al. 2010	BC	Engelmann spruce	Severe weather - SBB	Projected - Increased likelihood of SB outbreaks due to windthrow from more frequent severe weather.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Frelich et al. 2021	Canada/ US	Southern boreal	Wildfire	Projected - Warmer climate will increase days with extreme convective windstorms, which will dry fuels leading to increased potential for wildfire ignitions.
			BIOTIC	
Chandler et al. 2021	NE US	Eastern hemlock	HWA	Decline in HWA density in 2019 occurred as a result of increased mortality that indirectly resulted from abnormally high rainfall during the summer and autumn of 2018. It is suspected that an increase in native fungal entomopathogens associated with wetter conditions was responsible for mortality.
Hubermann et al. 2022	NWT	Jack pine	MPB	Range expansion – baited tree attacked in 2012 near AB border.
Alberta Forest Health and Adaptation, 2019	AB	Lodgepole pine	MPB	Extreme cold, e.g., polar vortex in February 2019, led to significant overwinter mortality rates of mountain pine beetle, as projected by MacQuarrie et al. 2019.
Aukema et al. 2008	BC	Lodgepole pine	MPB	Warmer winter and summer temperatures explained outbreak probabilities over a 15-year outbreak.
Preisler et al. 2012	WA, OR	Lodgepole pine	MPB	Warmer winter temperatures and drought conditions influenced the size of an outbreak, while precipitation levels the year prior had a positive effect, possibly due to brood size. Two- year cumulative precipitation had a negative effect.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Bleiker 2019	Canada	Pine spp	MPB	Climate facilitated eastern expansion into novel pine forests.
Bentz et al. 2010; 2014;2016	US, BC	Spruce, lodgepole, whitebark pine	SBB and MPB	Range expansion - Improved climate suitability in higher latitudes and elevations.
Observation	BC	Spruce	SBB	Warmer temperatures have led to increased voltinism and influenced the current outbreak in NE BC.
Robbins et al. 2022	CA	Ponderosa pine	WPB	Warmer temperatures led to increased WPB voltinism and increased host mortality associated with drought.
Dooley and Six 2015		Whitebark pine	WPBR-MPB	Trees severely infected with WPBR had lower attack rates, possibly due to lower defences and fewer adults required to attack. However, emergence rates and brood size were greater than on uninfected trees or less severely infected trees.
Maclauchlan et al. 2023	BC	Sub-alpine fir	WBBB	Evidence that WBBB may be able to shorten development time to one year.
Howe et al. 2022	BC	Sub-alpine fir	WBBB	Elevational and latitudinal range expansion - Increase in growing season, degree day accumulation, and drought stress.
Lalande et al. 2020	CO	Sub-alpine fir	DRA-DRB- WBBB -density	Complex of interacting pests, climate and stand density factors in sub-alpine fir decline.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Pureswaran et al. 2015	<i></i> ФС	Balsam fir/spruce	ESBW	Range expansion – defoliation north of historical distribution in Québec.
Hubermann et al. 2022	NWT	Spruce	ESBW	Range expansion into Mackenzie Delta – most northerly record in Canada. More frequent outbreaks.
		Trees and shrubs	Northern tent caterpillar	Range expansion – previous northern extent Norman Wells, 2012 in Taiga Plains in Inuvik.
Ward et al. 2020	BC, AB	Alpine Iarch	LC	Projected - Range expansion – warming climate could expand the range into higher elevation alpine larch.
Bellemin- Noel et al. 2021; Pureswaran et al. 2018 ;2019 Portalier et al. 2022	Boreal	Black spruce	ESBW	Potential for northern range expansion due to improved synchrony with black spruce phenology and increased severity in mixed balsam fir and black spruce stands in historical range.
Regnière et al. 2012; Portalier et al. 2022	Boreal	Balsam fir	ESBW	Projected contraction at southern limit of range due to higher overwinter mortality rates or host-pest asynchrony.
Zhang et al. 2014	Boreal	Balsam fir/spruce	ESBW	Projected - Warming climate will decrease ESBW-induced tree mortality/outbreak severity. Mortality is linked with wetter years.
Observation	NB	Boreal	ESBW	Warm spring led to populations collapsing.

AUTHOR/ Type	AREA	FOREST/HOST	INTERACTION	COMMENT
Tai and Carroll 2022	BC	Douglas-fir	WSBW	Projected - Range expansion and contraction – Optimal synchrony at higher latitudes and elevation due to warming climate and diverging of synchrony at lower latitudes and elevations.
Observation	BC	Western hemlock	WHL	Heat dome caused western hemlock looper population to collapse.
Observation	NWT	Jack pine	DRA	First record in NWT in 2019.
Dudney et al. 2021	Sierra Nevada	Whitebark pine	WPBR	Elevational expansion due to extended growing season; limited by the presence of alternate host. More arid conditions at lower elevations will cause host contraction and maybe range shift.
Pedlar et al. 2020	Eastern Canada	Oaks	0ak wilt	Projected - Models indicate suitable climatic conditions in southern Ontario for pathogen and two insect vectors, with climatically suitability expanding in the next two decades.
Hennon et al. 2020	Canada/ US	Douglas-fir	SNC	Projected - Increased mean winter temperatures driving outbreaks.
Hennon et al. 2021	Canada/ US	Lodgepole pine	Pine stem rusts	Projected - Increased overnight temperatures leading to more frequent infection years.
Observation	SK	Conifers	Needle rusts	Proliferation of needles rusts during extreme wet periods.

HWA=hemlock woolly adelgid; DFB=Douglas-fir beetle; MPB=mountain pine beetle; SBB=spruce beetle; WBBB=western balsam bark beetle;; ESBW=eastern spruce budworm; LC=larch casebearer; WHL=western hemlock looper; WSBW=western spruce budworm, DRA=Armillaria root disease, DRB=Blackstain root disease; WPBR=White pine blister rust. Observations are from provincial or territorial forest pest managers.

WILDFIRE

A recent review of wildfire and disturbance interactions suggests that forest disturbances do not increase probability of wildfire (as fire weather conditions are often a major overriding driver) but can affect ignition potential and fire behavior (Kane et al. 2017). Wildfire as a disturbance was not explicitly identified as a knowledge priority by the Task Team because work is currently being undertaken in other Working Groups of Canadian Council of Forest Ministers. As such, the following does not summarize all wildfire-forest pest interactions, only those brought forward in the workshop as they apply to bark beetles, eastern spruce budworm (ESBW) and western spruce budworm (WSBW).

- Current evidence suggests that bark beetle outbreaks have minimal effect on fire probability and severity but can exacerbate fire behavior, particularly during the 'red' needle phase. This is partly because extreme weather and topography can override bark beetle effects. Modeling fire behavior is challenged by the heterogeneous nature of bark beetle mortality on the landscape (Fettig et al. 2022, Wayman and Safford, 2021).
- The direct effects of wildfire on bark beetles, including prescribed fires, vary by levels of tree injury and local bark beetle populations. In the short-term, there is a pulse of activity as bark beetles attack injured trees (Fettig et al., 2022).
- ESBW alters surface and ladder fuels, fuel connectivity and ignition potential.
 - Two separate 300-year landscape simulation models found the following:
 - ESBW reduces long-term wildfire risk by acting as a natural thinning agent that periodically removes ladder fuels in mixed forests in Minnesota (Sturtevant et al. 2012);

- ESBW defoliation had no effect on fire size while logging increased fire size through conversion to early seral flammable conifer hosts (James et al. 2011); and
- Wildfire ignition risk is influenced by season and timeline of eastern spruce budworm outbreaks; spring season and lagged defoliation (8-10 years) increased risk, whereas summer and current defoliation decreased risk (James et al. 2017, Stocks, 1987).
- In an ESBW vegetation simulation, Sato et al. (2022 under review) reported a pulse of increased fuel and fire size that depletes after an outbreak, such that the ESBW-driven enhancement is minor over longer timescales.
- Fire mitigation practices have been found to increase the impacts of defoliators due to an increase in shade intolerant host tree species (Fettig et al. 2022).
- WSBW outbreaks in the Pacific Northwest were found to decrease fire risk with no influence on burn severity (Meigs et al. 2016).

KNOWLEDGE GAPS

Workshop discussions did not include research needs; hence, the following section summarizes knowledge gaps identified in peer-reviewed articles for each of the abiotic stressors, drought, severe storms, and warming climate and extreme weather.

DROUGHT

Based on the evidence provided in Table 2, most empirical or experimental studies address the linked interactions between drought and a biotic disturbance, primarily bark beetles, with very few studies on compound, cross-scale, or cascading interactions. Forest diseases are not well represented, with only a few studies on white pine blister rust, western white pine pole blight, dwarf mistletoes, and Armillaria and Blackstain root disease. Most studies on forest diseases were forecasting in nature. Some empirical studies noted the amplification of drought-related mortality, including trembling aspen defoliated by forest tent caterpillar or serpentine leafminer and fire-permafrost thaw-flooding complex in permafrost areas.

Several broad themes emerged when reviewing drought-related knowledge gaps or research needs identified in the literature. At a host level, these include physiological thresholds and their effect on trees, tree mortality mechanisms and regional mortality patterns. At a pest-level, these include the response of forest pests to drought-induced water stress on trees, and at a system-level topdown regulation of forest pests by parasitoid, predator, or antagonist species, feedback mechanisms and impacts, and the effects on forest regimes and concurrent climate pest or disturbance drivers. Specific research needs included the followina:

- Yellow cedar decline Further research is required on fine-scale drivers of decline (Comeau and Daniels 2022).
- Aspen decline Need to quantify the relative importance of multiple factors in driving the dynamics of tree populations and assess whether interactions among multiple drivers play an important role in predicting forest dynamics (Refsland and Cushman 2021).

Hemlock woolly adelgid research identified for Unites States includes examining the direct effects of drought on hemlock survival during active adelgid infestations (Kolb et al. 2016)uncertainty as to whether this is a concern for Canadian forests.

- Bark beetles Future research identified for the United States include: (1) the role of temperature in drought-induced outbreaks of bark beetles; (2) the identification of bark beetle species that are capable of selfperpetuating outbreaks after drought subsides; (3) the level of drought-associated tree mortality that would occur without bark beetle infestation; (4) effectiveness the of manipulating forest composition and structure to reduce drought stress and bark beetle infestations; (5) the level of drought intensity in pine forests of the eastern U.S. that would shift the role of drought in southern pine beetle outbreaks from a negative to a positive driver; (6) integration of mechanistically-based models of bark beetle response to drought and temperature into models that predict climate impacts on forest vegetation (Kolb et al. 2016).
- Fungal pathogens Need for empirical data and predictive tools on how changes in drought frequency and intensity will alter fungal pathogens (Kolb et al. 2016).
- Dwarf mistletoes Research that compares the impacts of intense drought between mistletoes and their host trees (Kolb et al. 2016).
- Armillaria root disease Research on how biotic disease resistance or tolerance to Armillaria root disease is related to drought tolerance or timber product quality (Cruikshank and Filipescu, 2017).
- General Cross-scale effects of drought at stand-to-landscape scales (Clark et al. 2016).

SEVERE STORMS

There has been minimal work on severe storms, with a few studies concerning the 1998 ice storm in eastern Canada. Severe storm legacies, however, have the potential to trigger other disturbances, particularly forest pests which attack stressed or downed trees or increase the risk of wildfire. Of interest, the empirical studies on ice and snow damage were one of the few, including forest intactness, edge effect or fragmentation as a variable influencing forest damage.

Vogt (2020) identified the following knowledge gaps as they apply to weather-related disturbances in the southern United States.

- What are the cascading effects of compounded disturbances (based on their severity levels) on the abiotic and biotic components in the ecosystem?
- How do populations and communities of woodboring insects and other late insect colonizers of trees change over time?
- Does the level of disturbance result in different rates of residual tree mortality and associated different responses by insects and fungal pathogens?
- Would we expect enhanced activity of invasive non-native species in weather-disturbed areas?
 What forest biomes are most at risk of invasion by non-native species following severe storms?
- Do the timing and type of post-weather disturbance management activities affect biotic communities and regeneration dynamics?

WARMING CLIMATE AND EXTREME WEATHER

Studies on biotic interactions with warming climate and extreme weather (Table 3) had similarities to those of drought studies (Table 2); most dealt with linked binary interactions, where the emphasis was on bark beetles, and very few studies on forest diseases. Range expansion was noted for most bark beetle species, both in latitude and elevation, because of warming climate and changes in development rates. Only two studies examined the cascading effects of multiple forest pests, both in high elevation ecosystems.

Overall knowledge gaps are like those identified for drought, a better understanding of disturbance interactions and their feedbacks and direct and indirect effects of warming climate and extreme weather on pests, hosts, and natural enemies. The following are knowledge gaps identified in some of the empirical studies referenced in Table 3.

- Arctic boreal zone Better understanding of insect range shifts, cascading effects of rain on snow, drivers of drought exposure and susceptibility (Foster et al. 2022).
- Forest diseases Identifying how host infection surfaces (i.e., roots, leaves, stem tissue) respond to warming and water deficit across aridity gradients (Dudney et al. 2021).
- Forest diseases Research is needed to determine specific temperature and precipitation influences and physiological limits of the host and pathogen (Hennon et al. 2021).
- Western balsam bark beetle Future work should identify specific supercooling points, the relationship between temperature and development rate, and how relatively high within-stand variability in age and size class of subalpine fir affects the irruptive dynamics (Howe et al. 2022).
- Eastern spruce budworm Long-term studies over several generations to determine whether the peak emergence dates of overwintering larvae might shift in adaptation to the budburst phenology of black spruce (Pureswaran et al. 2018;2019).

- General Characterization of resistance mechanisms in genetic survivors of disturbances (Six et al. 2018).
- General Characterizing thresholds for systems beyond which changes are irreversible will be an important component of forest management in a changing climate (Bentz et al. 2010).
- General Better understand the effects of elevated atmospheric CO2 on insects and diseases (Agne et al. 2018).
- General There is an urgent need for ensemble-based simulations to reduce predictions' uncertainties and provide a solid basis for guiding forest management strategies (Chaste et al. 2019).

DISTURBANCE IMPACTS

Workshop discussion on disturbance impacts determined that a good first step was assessing the relevancy of existing impacts identified for other major pests in recent pest risk analyses. As such, impacts or benefits are not described in this report but are found in existing pest risk assessments (mountain pine beetle) or pest risk analyses (emerald ash borer, brown spruce long horn beetle) (https://www.ccfm.org/knowledgecentre/). A pest risk analysis for eastern spruce budworm by Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, is forthcoming. The limitation of this approach is the lack of forest pathogen impact information.

CONCEPTUAL ADVANCES AND DISTURBANCE INTERACTIONS MODELING

The ability to inform adaptation relies upon empirical or experimental evidence combined with advanced model frameworks capable of simulating complex disturbance interactions across multiple scales. The following section briefly summarizes the theory and practice of disturbance interactions modeling as well as some of the challenges and prospects of such endeavours.

THEORY AND PRACTICE

Traditionally abiotic and biotic disturbances have been described at the landscape level in terms of their severity, extent, and frequency. However, different processes operating at different scales can work synergistically to amplify disturbances across scales (Sturtevant and Fortin, 2021). Crossscale interactions alter the pattern-process relationships across scales such that fine-scale processes can influence a broad spatial extent or a long time period, or broad-scale drivers can interact with fine-scale processes to determine system dynamics (Peters et al. 2007).

Thus, conceptual advances in disturbance interactions investigation acknowledge that disturbance regimes result from processes across temporal and spatial scales, resulting in nonlinear cross-scale dynamics, inherent uncertainty, and are influenced by anthropogenic disturbances. The ideal conceptual model in disturbance interactions investigation includes:

1) disentangling disturbance interaction mechanisms and processes,

2) deterministic and stochastic elements of anthropogenic disturbance, and

3) uncertainty due to climate change across multiple scales (Sturtevant and Fortin, 2021).

Disturbance interactions are informed by empirical or experimental studies, which seek to better understand forest ecosystem dynamics that emerge from the interactions of multiple disturbances, as well as biophysical and demographic drivers within forested landscapes (Sturtevant and Fortin, 2021). Many conceptual frameworks or models that address disturbance interactions exist (Anderegg et al. 2015, Cooke and Carroll 2017, Harmon and Bell 2020, Hennon et al. 2020, Lewis and Lindgren 2000, Micheletti et al. 2021, Raffa et al. 2008, Wang et al. 2012), and range from those examining one forest pest to those studying forest pest systems.

CHALLENGES AND PROSPECTS

discussions Workshop acknowledged the complexities of disturbance interactions, including the potential for non-linear dynamics, stochastic synergistic effects, events, and reciprocal feedbacks. However, it was also recognized that existing models lack the ability to inform forest decisions management as they apply to disturbance interactions and their impacts. A recent review by Sturtevant and Fortin (2021) found that, although the emerging trend is towards more explicit modeling of disturbance processes and their emergent effects on system dynamics and landscape structure, statistically-based static models of disturbance regimes, e.g., those that focus on system response rather than feedback to the system, are still commonly applied. Disturbance interaction modeling is therefore limited by a lack of empirical study that includes non-linear threshold behavior. cross-scaled interactions, and a means to reduce the uncertainty.

To address this knowledge gap, Sturtevant and Fortin (2021) suggest that 1) empirical disturbance

interaction studies should define the nature and form of interactions explicitly, and 2) models capture the direction and magnitude of interaction includina those processes, that transcend spatiotemporal scales. Raffa et al. (2008) suggested that factors to consider in a cross-scale analysis of forest pests include: plant resistance and tolerance to the guild's form of feeding; the plant herbivore response profile to environmental stress; the levels and manners in which natural enemies and symbionts exert feedback; and the effects of weather on both plant suitability and insect phenology.

Experimentation, conceptual advances, and empirical approaches are means to address areas of uncertainty, particularly as it applies to thresholds. In this manner, ecosystem response can be captured via controlled studies that focus on disturbance interaction mechanisms, which can then serve as a basis for model parameter estimation. Identifying sources of uncertainty as either being within or external to models (Srivastava et al. 2021) or using consensus models could also help reduce uncertainty (Boulanger et al. 2022). Srivastava et al. (2021) introduced the concept of 'wildcards' to address uncertainty. Wildcards are defined as biological or bioclimatic processes with a high degree of uncertainty and a large impact on our ability to address the biotic consequences of climate change. In essence, these are like ecological surprises but extend to any biological level, ranging from an organism to an ecosystem, encompassing events and processes and explicitly invoking the dual conditions of high uncertainty and high impact on the outcome.

While the workshop touched on several models, SpaDES[1], SELES[1], and LANDIS[1], much of the discussion revolved around PERFICT[2] following the presentation by Dr. Eliot McIntire on the topic. PERFICT, a re-imagined foundation for predictive

ecology, was identified as a tool with the potential to address some of the noted challenges. PERFICT is based on the premise that ecology needs a framework that enables the transferability of each component of the modelling workflow and makes cross-study evaluations rapid and commonplace, and nimble enough to adapt to the real-time engagement needs of stakeholders (McIntire et al. 2022). PERFICT represents seven principles that facilitate cross-study model comparison, hypothesis testing, and ensemble modelling while promoting utility, flexibility, adaptability, and scientific longevity (McIntire et al. 2022).

At the core of the PERFICT approach are modules distinctive to a process but generic to other systems or questions. For example, one module could be based on information from one peerreviewed paper, while another could be based on a different study. To determine which dataset is relevant or important, datasets are processed through a validation chain. The nimbleness of reusable and interoperable modules allows science to respond rapidly to changing policy demands (McIntire et al. 2022). The benefits are many, including examining uncertainty by comparing outputs of various models and potentially identifying opportunities for consensus models, which may further reduce uncertainty (Boulanger et al. 2022).

DISCUSSION

The results of this knowledge synthesis are promising in terms of conceptual advances in disturbance interaction modeling and the existence of a platform, e.g., PERFICT, which will facilitate easier model evaluation, comparison, and improvement. This will not only help in reducing uncertainty but will also allow science to respond

quickly and adapt to changing policy demands. However, critical knowledge gaps exist, including physiological effects of climate change on trees and pests, particularly forest pathogens and minor pests, and spatiotemporal disturbance interaction dynamics, which have the potential to cause nonlinear changes to ecosystem structure and function. This calls for in depth, holistic research on key biological models, where empirical data on species interactions under various climatic conditions would feed process-based models (Jactel et al. 2019). Additional research needs also exist with regard to the effects of forest fragmentation on forest disturbances and the levels of intactness required to ensure resiliency, as evidenced by the lack of evidence in this regard. New technologies and platforms, such as data obtained using satellites or Laser imaging, Ranging (LiDAR) technology, Detection, and represent significant opportunities to better parameterize spatially explicit simulation models (Canelles et al. 2021).

In the absence of system-specific adaptation measures, management could be informed by existing projections and applied to a portion of the land base. This may have particularly relevancy to the southern boreal forests, which are forecasted to shift from conifer-dominated to more temperate hardwood-dominated forests (Chaste et al. 2019, Frelich et al. 2021). Regarding mountain pine beetle adaptation Sambaraju et al. (2019) suggest that forest managers use projections of extreme weather conditions (e.g., prolonged droughts) as quides to make reforestation decisions or plant warm-adapted trees in new environments via assisted migration. Regardless of adaptation measures informed by modeling, genetic survivors of disturbance will be one of our best informants on climate change adaptation from which we should seek to better understand their success.

Extreme events and climate variability could affect ecosystems to a greater degree than mean trends in climate. Gradual species response to directional climate warming is likely to be overshadowed by transitions triggered abrupt by weatherdisturbance interactions (Boiffin et al. 2013). Multiple stressors or compound disturbances, e.g., extreme events followed by biotic disturbances or vice versus, will influence ecosystem dynamics such that resiliency will be challenged, potentially resulting in accelerated climate misadaptation (Nolet and Kneeshaw, 2018). Ecological surprises will likely have the greatest impact and represent those events which are the most challenging for adaptation as they are indeed surprises, breaching unforeseen thresholds. Even today, known major pests are behaving outside predicted or known patterns. Ecological surprises may include secondary pests or those currently considered innocuous. Thus, researchers and forest managers may benefit from acknowledging that the long-term effect of current forest dynamics and management policies will extend long into the future. On the local scale, managers should pay particular attention to current forest pests and those that may have future impacts (Canelles et al. 2021). Now more than ever, collaborative efforts amongst all forest management aspects, e.g., forest health, forest research, growth and yield, and wildfire management, are necessary to ensure that adaptation measures encompass the complexities of disturbance interactions anticipated in the future.

SUMMARY

Disturbance interactions have the potential to cause large, nonlinear, or unexpected changes in ecosystem structure and function. Finding generality across these complex events is an important first step in predicting their occurrence

and understanding their significance (Buma, 2015). Given the knowledge gaps and time scale required to fill those gaps, multiple approaches to addressing these gaps are necessary. The first could involve developing a collaborative and coordinated research response which would review, prioritize, and address knowledge gaps identified in this report. The second could include assessing the portability of other well-studied systems and applying them to similar taxa or feeding guilds. Platforms such as PERFICT could facilitate the timely completion of the latter. Sturtevant and Fortin (2021) concluded that conceptual understanding, empirical study, and simulation modeling should continually reinforce one another if we are to unravel the complexities of disturbance interactions in time and space. Clarity in concepts (knowledge), an empirical foundation (data and analysis), and model designs (synthesis and software) will ultimately enhance understanding of complex systems, but the choice of which processes to model explicitly and which processes to aggregate remains the fundamental challenge of our time.

PROPOSED NEXT STEPS FOR 2023/2024

The 2022 knowledge synthesis workshops provided a snapshot of the state of forest disturbance interaction knowledge and modeling tools available to assess and forecast these interactions. The FPWG proposes a follow-up exercise in 2023-24 that involves exchanges between forest health and forest management experts around knowledge gaps, uncertainties, and information needs which could be tailored for specific regions of Canada. The overall objective would be to support regional dialogues that facilitate exchanges between scientific experts and practitioners about the implications of disturbance interactions on future forest resilience and management planning and steps to prioritize and address key knowledge gaps and uncertainties.

REFERENCES

LITERATURE CITED

Agne, M. C., Beedlow, P. A., Shaw, D. C., Woodruff, D. R., Lee, E. H., Cline, S. P., & Comeleo, R. L. (2018). Interactions of predominant insects and diseases with climate change in Douglas-fir forests of western Oregon and Washington, U.S.A. Forest Ecology and Management, 409, 317-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.11.004.

Allen, C. D., Macalady, A. K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N., Vennetier, M., Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D. D., Hogg, E. H. (., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R., Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J., Allard, G., Running, S. W., Semerci, A., & Cobb, N. (2010). A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 259(4), 660-684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.001.

Anderegg, W. R. L., Hicke, J. A., Fisher, R. A., Allen, C. D., Aukema, J., Bentz, B., Hood, S., Lichstein, J. W., Macalady, A. K., McDowell, N., Pan, Y., Raffa, K., Sala, A., Shaw, J. D., Stephenson, N. L., Tague, C., & Zeppel, M. (2015). Tree mortality from drought, insects, and their interactions in a changing climate. The New Phytologist, 208(3), 674-683. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13477. Alberta Forest Health and Adaptation. (2019). Annual Report 2019: Forest Health and Adaptation in Alberta. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/ddea0958-0cd4-49b1-9947-053065817202/resource/c01f8cdb-7a73-45a9-882c-949c6cb92fba/download/af-foresthealth-adaptation-annual-report-2019.pdf

Anoszko, E., Frelich, L. E., Rich, R. L., & Reich, P. B. (2022). Wind and fire: Rapid shifts in tree community composition following multiple disturbances in the southern boreal forest. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 13(3), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3952.

Aubin, I., Boisvert-Marsh, L., Kebli, H., McKenney, D., Pedlar, J., Lawrence, K., Hogg, E. H., Boulanger, Y., Gauthier, S., & Ste-Marie, C. (2018). Tree vulnerability to climate change: Improving exposure-based assessments using traits as indicators of sensitivity. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 9(2), e02108-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2108

Aukema, B. H., Carroll, A. L., Zheng, Y., Zhu, J., Raffa, K. F., Dan Moore, R., Stahl, K., & Taylor, S. W. (2008). Movement of outbreak populations of mountain pine beetle: Influences of spatiotemporal patterns and climate. Ecography (Copenhagen), 31(3), 348-358.

Balducci, L., Fierravanti, A., Rossi, S., Delzon, S., De Grandpré, L., Kneeshaw, D. D., & Deslauriers, A. (2020). The paradox of defoliation: Declining tree water status with increasing soil water content. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 290, 108025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2020.108025. Bellemin-Noël, B., Bourassa, S., Despland, E., De Grandpré, L., & Pureswaran, D. S. (2021). Improved performance of the eastern spruce budworm on black spruce as warming temperatures disrupt phenological defences. Global Change Biology, 27(14), 3358-3366.

https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15643.

Bentz, B. J., Duncan, J. P., & Powell, J. A. (2016). Elevational shifts in thermal suitability for mountain pine beetle population growth in a changing climate. Forestry (London), 89(3), 271-283. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpv054.

Bentz, B. J., Régnière, J., Fettig, C. J., Hansen, E. M., Hayes, J. L., Hicke, J. A., Kelsey, R. G., Negrón, J. F., & Seybold, S. J. (2010). Climate change and bark beetles of the western United States and Canada: Direct and indirect effects. Bioscience, 60(8), 602-613.

https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2010.60.8.6.

Bentz, B., Vandygriff, J., Jensen, C., Coleman, T., Maloney, P., Smith, S., Grady, A., & Schen-Langenheim, G. (2014). Mountain pine beetle voltinism and life history characteristics across latitudinal and elevational gradients in the western United States. Forest Science, 60(3), 434-449. https://doi.org/10.5849/forsci.13-056.

Bigler, C., Gavin, D. G., Gunning, C. & Veblen, T. T. (2017). Drought induces lagged tree mortality in a subalpine forest in the Rocky Mountains. Oikos 116, 1983–1994.

Bleiker, K. P., Canadian Council of Forest Ministers, & Canadian Government EBook Collection. (2019). Risk assessment of the threat of mountain pine beetle to Canada's boreal and eastern pine forests. Canadian Council of Forest Ministers = Conseil Canadien des Ministres des Forêts. Boiffin, J., & Munson, A. D. (2013). Three large fire years threaten resilience of closed crown black spruce forests in eastern Canada. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 4(5), art56-20. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00038.1

Bouchard, M., Pothier, D., & Ruel, J. (2009). Standreplacing windthrow in the boreal forests of eastern Quebec. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 39(2), 481-487. https://doi.org/10.1139/X08-174.

Boulanger, Y., & Pascual Puigdevall, J. (2021). Boreal forests will be more severely affected by projected anthropogenic climate forcing than mixedwood and northern hardwood forests in eastern Canada. Landscape Ecology, 36(6), 1725-1740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-021-01241-7.

Boulanger, Y., Pascual, J., Bouchard, M., D'Orangeville, L., Périé, C., & Girardin, M. P. (2022). Multi-model projections of tree species performance in Quebec, Canada under future climate change. Global Change Biology, 28(5), 1884-1902. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16014.

Boulanger, Y., Pascual, J., Bouchard, M., D'Orangeville, L., Périé, C., & Girardin, M. P. (2022). Multi-model projections of tree species performance in Quebec, Canada under future climate change. Global Change Biology, 28(5), 1884-1902. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16014.

Brecka, A. F. J., Boulanger, Y., Searle, E. B., Taylor, A. R., Price, D. T., Zhu, Y., Shahi, C., & Chen, H. Y. H. (2020). Sustainability of Canada's forestry sector may be compromised by impending climate change. Forest Ecology and Management, 474, 118352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118352. Buma, B. (2015). Disturbance interactions: Characterization, prediction, and the potential for cascading effects. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 6(4), art70-15. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00058.1.

Burton, P. J., & Boulanger, Y. (2018). Characterizing combined fire and insect outbreak disturbance regimes in British Columbia, Canada. Landscape Ecology, 33(11), 1997-2011. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0710-4.

Burton, P. J., Jentsch, A., & Walker, L. R. (2020). The ecology of disturbance interactions. Bioscience, 70(10), 854-870. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa088.

Canelles, Q., Aquilué, N., James, P. M. A., Lawler, J., & Brotons, L. (2021). Global review on interactions between insect pests and other forest disturbances. Landscape Ecology, 36(4), 945-972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-021-01209-7.

Chandler, J. L., Elkinton, J. S., & Orwig, D. A. (2022). High rainfall may induce fungal attack of hemlock woolly adelgid (hemiptera: Adelgidae) leading to regional decline. Environmental Entomology, 51(1), 286-293. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/nvab125.

Chaste, E., Girardin, M. P., Kaplan, J. O., Bergeron, Y., & Hély, C. (2019). Increases in heat-induced tree mortality could drive reductions of biomass resources in Canada's managed boreal forest. Landscape Ecology, 34(2), 403-426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-019-00780-4.

Chen, L., Huang, J., Alam, S. A., Zhai, L., Dawson, A., Stadt, K. J., & Comeau, P. G. (2017). Drought causes reduced growth of trembling aspen in western Canada. Global Change Biology, 23(7), 2887-2902. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13595. Chen, L., Huang, J., Dawson, A., Zhai, L., Stadt, K. J., Comeau, P. G., & Whitehouse, C. (2018). Contributions of insects and droughts to growth decline of trembling aspen mixed boreal forest of western Canada. Global Change Biology, 24(2), 655-667. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13855.

Clark, J. S., Iverson, L., Woodall, C. W., Allen, C. D., Bell, D. M., Bragg, D. C., D'Amato, A. W., Davis, F. W., Hersh, M. H., Ibanez, I., Jackson, S. T., Matthews, S., Pederson, N., Peters, M., Schwartz, M. W., Waring, K. M., & Zimmermann, N. E. (2016). The impacts of increasing drought on forest dynamics, structure, and biodiversity in the United States. Global Change Biology, 22(7), 2329-2352. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13160.

Comeau, V. M., & Daniels, L. D. (2022). Multiple divergent patterns in yellow-cedar growth driven by anthropogenic climate change. Climatic Change, 170(3-4) https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03264-0.

Comeau, V. M., Daniels, L. D., & Zeglen, S. (2021). Climate-induced yellow-cedar decline on the island archipelago of Haida Gwaii. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 12(3), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3427.

Comeau, V. M., Daniels, L. D., Knochenmus, G., Chavardès, R. D., & Zeglen, S. (2019). Tree-rings reveal accelerated yellow-cedar decline with changes to winter climate after 1980. Forests, 10(12), 1085. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10121085.

Cooke, B. J., & Carroll, A. L. (2017). Predicting the risk of mountain pine beetle spread to eastern pine forests: Considering uncertainty in uncertain times. Forest Ecology and Management, 396, 11-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.04.008. Cooke, B. J., & Roland, J. (2007). Trembling aspen responses to drought and defoliation by forest tent caterpillar and reconstruction of recent outbreaks in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 37(9), 1586-1598. https://doi.org/10.1139/X07-015.

Cruickshank, M. G., & Filipescu, C. N. (2017). The interactive effect of root disease and climate on wood properties in halfsibling Douglas-fir families. Forest Ecology and Management, 392, 58-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.03.002.

Currano, E. D., Wilf, P., Wing, S. L., Labandeira, C. C., Lovelock, E. C., & Royer, D. L. (2008). Sharply increased insect herbivory during the paleoceneeocene thermal maximum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS, 105(6), 1960-1964. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0708646105.

De Grandpré, L., Kneeshaw, D. D., Perigon, S., Boucher, D., Marchand, M., Pureswaran, D., Girardin, M. P., & Chen, H. (2019). Adverse climatic periods precede and amplify defoliator-induced tree mortality in eastern boreal North America. The Journal of Ecology, 107(1), 452-467. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13012.

De Grandpré, L., Marchand, M., Kneeshaw, D. D., Paré, D., Boucher, D., Bourassa, S., Gervais, D., Simard, M., Griffin, J. M., & Pureswaran, D. S. (2022). Defoliation-induced changes in foliage quality may trigger broad-scale insect outbreaks. Communications Biology, 5(1), 463-463. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-022-03407-8.

Delisle, J., Bernier-Cardou, M., & Labrecque, A. (2019). Extreme cold weather causes the collapse of a population of lambdina fiscellaria (lepidoptera: Geometridae) in the Laurentian mountains of Québec, Canada. Canadian Entomologist, 151(3), 311-328. https://doi.org/10.4039/tce.2019.8. Deschênes, É., Brice, M., & Brisson, J. (2019). Longterm impact of a major ice storm on tree mortality in an old-growth forest. Forest Ecology and Management, 448, 386-394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.06.018.

Dooley, E. M., & Six, D. L. (2015). Severe white pine blister rust infection in whitebark pine alters mountain pine beetle (coleoptera: Curculionidae) attack density, emergence rate, and body size. Environmental Entomology, 44(5), 1384-1394. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/nvv107.

Dudney, J., Willing, C. E., Das, A. J., Latimer, A. M., Nesmith, J. C. B., & Battles, J. J. (2021). Nonlinear shifts in infectious rust disease due to climate change. Nature Communications, 12(1), 5102-5102. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25182-6.

Dupont, A., Bélanger, L., & Bousquet, J. (1991). Relationships between balsam fir vulnerability to spruce budworm and ecological site conditions of fir stands in central Quebec. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 21(12), 1752-1759. https://doi.org/10.1139/x91-242.

Erbilgin, N., Zanganeh, L., Klutsch, J. G., Chen, S., Zhao, S., Ishangulyyeva, G., Burr, S. J., Gaylord, M., Hofstetter, R., Keefover-Ring, K., Raffa, K. F., & Kolb, T. (2021). Combined drought and bark beetle attacks deplete non-structural carbohydrates and promote death of mature pine trees. Plant, Cell and Environment, 44(12), 3636-3651. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.14197.

Fettig, C. J., Runyon, J. B., Homicz, C. S., James, P. M. A., & Ulyshen, M. D. (2022). Fire and insect interactions in North American forests. Current Forestry Reports, 8(4), 301-316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-022-00170-1. Filbee-Dexter, K., Pittman, J., Haig, H. A., Alexander, S. M., Symons, C. C., & Burke, M. J. (2017). Ecological surprise: Concept, synthesis, and social dimensions. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 8(12), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2005.

Flower, A., Gavin, D. G., Heyerdahl, E. K., Parsons, R. A., & Cohn, G. M. (2014). Drought-triggered western spruce budworm outbreaks in the interior Pacific Northwest: A multi-century dendrochronological record. Forest Ecology and Management, 324, 16-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.03.042.

Foster, A. C., Wang, J. A., Frost, G. V., Davidson, S. J., Hoy, E., Turner, K. W., Sonnentag, O., Epstein, H., Berner, L. T., Armstrong, A. H., Kang, M., Rogers, B. M., Campbell, E., Miner, K. R., Orndahl, K. M., Bourgeau-Chavez, L. L., Lutz, D. A., French, N., Chen, D., . . . Goetz, S. (2022). Disturbances in North American boreal forest and arctic tundra: Impacts, interactions, and responses. Environmental Research Letters, 17(11), 113001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac98d7.

Frelich, L. E., Montgomery, R. A., & Reich, P. B. (2021). Seven ways a warming climate can kill the southern boreal forest. Forests, 12(5), 560. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12050560.

Garbutt, R., & Canadian Publications to 2013. (2006). Spruce beetle and the forests of the southwest Yukon. Pacific Forestry Centre.

Girardin , M. P., Guo, X. J., Gervais, D., Metsaranta, J., Campbell, E. M., Arsenault, A., Isaac-Renton, M., & Hogg, E. H. (2022). Cold-season freeze frequency is a pervasive driver of subcontinental forest growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS, 119(18), e2117464119-e2117464119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2117464119. Harmon, M. E., & Bell, D. M. (2020). Mortality in forested ecosystems: Suggested conceptual advances. Forests, 11(5), 572. https://doi.org/10.3390/f11050572.

Hart, S. J., Veblen, T. T., Eisenhart, K. S., Jarvis, D. & Kulakowski, D. (2014). Drought induces spruce beetle (Dendroctonus rufipennis) outbreaks across northwestern Colorado. Ecology 95, 930-939.

Harvey, B. J., Andrus, R. A., Battaglia, M. A., Negrón, J. F., Orrego, A., & Veblen, T. T. (2021). Droughty times in mesic places: Factors associated with forest mortality vary by scale in a temperate subalpine region. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 12(1), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3318.

Harvey, J. E., Axelson, J. N., & Smith, D. J. (2018). Disturbance-climate relationships between wildfire and western spruce budworm in interior British Columbia. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 9(3), e02126-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2126.

Hennon, P. E., Frankel, S. J., Woods, A. J., Worrall, J. J., Norlander, D., Zambino, P. J., Warwell, M. V., Shaw, C. G., & Woodward, S. (2020). A framework to evaluate climate effects on forest tree diseases. Forest Pathology = Journal De Pathologie Forestière = Zeitschrift Für Forstpathologie, 50(6), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12649.

Hennon, P. E., Frankel, S. J., Woods, A. J., Worrall, J. J., Ramsfield, T. D., Zambino, P. J., Shaw, D. C., Ritóková, G., Warwell, M. V., Norlander, D., Mulvey, R. L., Shaw, C. G., & Woodward, S. (2021). Applications of a conceptual framework to assess climate controls of forest tree diseases. Forest Pathology = Journal De Pathologie Forestière = Zeitschrift Für Forstpathologie, 51(6), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12719. Hennon, P. E., D'Amore, D. V., Schaberg, P. G., Wittwer, D. T., & Shanley, C. S. (2012). Shifting climate, altered niche, and a dynamic conservation strategy for yellow-cedar in the north pacific coastal rainforest. Bioscience, 62(2), 147-158. https ://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.2.8.

Howe, M., Peng, L., & Carroll, A. (2022). Landscape predictions of western balsam bark beetle activity implicate warm temperatures, a longer growing season, and drought in widespread irruptions across British Columbia. Forest Ecology and Management, 508, 120047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120047.

Huberman, Y.; Beckers, J.; Brett, R.; Castilla, G.; Errington, R.; Fraser-Reid, E.C.; Goodsman, D.; Hogg, E.H.; Metsaranta, J.; Neilson, E.; Olesinski, J.; Parisien, M.-A.; Price, D.; Ramsfield, T.; Shaw, C.; Thompson, D.; Voicu, M.F.; Whitman, E.; Edwards, J. 2022. The state of Northwest Territories forests in the wake of climate change: baseline conditions and observed changes to forest ecosystems. Nat. Resour. Can., Can. For. Serv., North. For. Cent., Edmonton, AB. Inf. Rep.NOR-X-430.

Itter, M. S., D'Orangeville, L., Dawson, A., Kneeshaw, D., Duchesne, L., Finley, A. O., & Battipaglia, G. (2019). Boreal tree growth exhibits decadal-scale ecological memory to drought and insect defoliation, but no negative response to their interaction. The Journal of Ecology, 107(3), 1288-1301. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13087.

Jactel, H., Koricheva, J., & Castagneyrol, B. (2019). Responses of forest insect pests to climate change: Not so simple. Current Opinion in Insect Science, 35, 103-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.07.010. Jactel, H., Petit, J., Desprez-Loustau, M., Delzon, S., Piou, D., Battisti, A., & Koricheva, J. (2012). Drought effects on damage by forest insects and pathogens: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 18(1), 267-276. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02512.x.

James, P. M. A., Fortin, M.-J., Sturtevant, B. R., Fall, A., & Kneeshaw, D. (2011). Modelling spatial interactions among fire, spruce budworm, and logging in the boreal forest. Ecosystems (New York), 14(1), 60-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-010-9395-5.

James, P. M. A., Robert, L., Wotton, B. M., Martell, D. L., & Fleming, R. A. (2017). Lagged cumulative spruce budworm defoliation affects the risk of fire ignition in Ontario, Canada. Ecological Applications, 27(2), 532-544. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1463.

Kane, J. M., Varner, J. M., Metz, M. R., & van Mantgem, P. J. (2017). Characterizing interactions between fire and other disturbances and their impacts on tree mortality in western U.S. forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 405, 188-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.037.

Kleinman, J. S., Goode, J. D., Fries, A. C., and Hart, J. L. 2019. Ecological consequences of compound disturbances in forest ecosystems: a systematic review. Ecosphere 10(11):e02962. 10.1002/ecs2.2962.

Kolb, T. E., Fettig, C. J., Ayres, M. P., Bentz, B. J., Hicke, J. A., Mathiasen, R., Stewart, J. E., & Weed, A. S. (2016). Observed and anticipated impacts of drought on forest insects and diseases in the United States. Forest Ecology and Management, 380, 321-334.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.051.

Kolb, T., Keefover-Ring, K., Burr, S. J., Hofstetter, R., Gaylord, M., & Raffa, K. F. (2019). Droughtmediated changes in tree physiological processes weaken tree defenses to bark beetle attack. Journal of Chemical Ecology, 45(10), 888-900. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-019-01105-0.

Koontz, M. J., Latimer, A. M., Mortenson, L. A., Fettig, C. J., & North, M. P. (2021). Cross-scale interaction of host tree size and climatic water deficit governs bark beetle-induced tree mortality. Nature Communications, 12(1), 129-13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20455-y.

Lalande, B. M., Hughes, K., Jacobi, W. R., Tinkham, W. T., Reich, R., & Stewart, J. E. (2020). Subalpine fir mortality in Colorado is associated with stand density, warming climates and interactions among fungal diseases and the western balsam bark beetle. Forest Ecology and Management, 466, 118133.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118133.

Lewis, K. J., & Lindgren, B. S. (2000). Conceptual model of biotic disturbance ecology in the central interior of B.C.: How forest management can turn Dr. Jekyll into Mr. Hyde. Forestry Chronicle, 76(3), 433-443. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc76433-3.

Li, F., Dudley, T. L., Chen, B., Chang, X., Liang, L., & Peng, S. (2016). Responses of tree and insect herbivores to elevated nitrogen inputs: A metaanalysis. Acta Oecologica (Montrouge), 77, 160-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2016.10.008.

Lloren, J. I., Fahrig, L., Bennett, J. R., Contreras, T. A., McCune, J. L., & Chen, H. (2020). The influence of landscape context on short- and long-term forest change following a severe ice storm. The Journal of Ecology, 108(1), 224-238. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13255. Maclauchlan, L. E., Stock, A. J., & Brooks, J. E. (2023). Infestation phases and impacts of dryocoetes confusus in subalpine fir forests of southern british columbia. Forests, 14(2), 363. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14020363

Maclauchlan, L. E., & Brooks, J. E. (2020). The balsam bark weevil, Pissodes striatulus (Coleoptera: Curculionidae): Life history and occurrence in southern British Columbia. Journal of the Entomological Society of British Columbia, 117, 3-19.

MacQuarrie, C. J. K., Cooke, B. J., & Saint-Amant, R. (2019). The predicted effect of the polar vortex of 2019 on winter survival of emerald ash borer and mountain pine beetle. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 49(9), 1165-1172. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0115.

McIntire, E. J. B., Chubaty, A. M., Cumming, S. G., Andison, D., Barros, C., Boisvenue, C., Haché, S., Luo, Y., Micheletti, T., Stewart, F. E. C., & Poisot, T. (2022). PERFICT: A Re-imagined foundation for predictive ecology. Ecology Letters, 25(6), 1345-1351. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13994.

Meigs, G. W., Zald, H. S. J., Campbell, J. L., Keeton, W. S., & Kennedy, R. E. (2016). Do insect outbreaks reduce the severity of subsequent forest fires? Environmental Research Letters, 11(4), 45008-45017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/4/045008.

Michaelian , M., Hogg, E. H., Hall, R. J., & Arsenault, E. (2010). Massive mortality of aspen following severe drought along the southern edge of the Canadian boreal forest: Aspen mortality following severe drought. Global Change Biology, 17(6), 2084-2094. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u> 2486.2010.02357.x. Micheletti, T., Stewart, F. E. C., Cumming, S. G., Haché, S., Stralberg, D., Tremblay, J. A., Barros, C., Eddy, I. M. S., Chubaty, A. M., Leblond, M., Pankratz, R. F., Mahon, C. L., Van Wilgenburg, S. L., Bayne, E. M., Schmiegelow, F., & McIntire, E. J. B. (2021). Assessing pathways of climate change effects in SpaDES: An application to boreal landbirds of northwest territories Canada. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution,

9https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2021.679673.

Moise, E. R. D., Lavigne, M. B., & Johns, R. C. (2019). Density has more influence than drought on spruce budworm (Choristoneura fumiferana) performance under outbreak conditions. Forest Ecology and Management, 433, 170-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.10.031.

Nolet, P., & Kneeshaw, D. (2018). Extreme events and subtle ecological effects: Lessons from a longterm sugar maple-American beech comparison. Ecosphere, 9(7) doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2336.

Pedlar, J. H., McKenney, D. W., Hope, E., Reed, S., & Sweeney, J. (2020). Assessing the climate suitability and potential economic impacts of oak wilt in Canada. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 19391. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75549-w.

Peng, C., Ma, Z., Lei, X., Zhu, Q., Chen, H., Wang, W., Liu, S., Li, W., Fang, X., & Zhou, X. (2011). A droughtinduced pervasive increase in tree mortality across Canada's boreal forests. Nature Climate Change, 1(9), 467-471. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1293.

Peters, D. P. C., Bestelmeyer, B. T., & Turner, M. G. (2007). Cross-scale interactions and changing pattern-process relationships: Consequences for system dynamics. Ecosystems (New York), 10(5), 790-796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-007-9055-6. Preisler, H. K., Hicke, J. A., Ager, A. A., & Hayes, J. L. (2012). Climate and weather influences on spatial temporal patterns of mountain pine beetle populations in Washington and Oregon. Ecology (Durham), 93(11), 2421-2434. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1412.1.

Portalier, S. M. J., Candau, J., & Lutscher, F. (2022). A temperature-driven model of phenological mismatch provides insights into the potential impacts of climate change on consumer-resource interactions. Ecography (Copenhagen), 2022(8), n/a. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.06259</u>.

Pureswaran, D. S., De Grandpré, L., Paré, D., Taylor, A., Barrette, M., Morin, H., Régnière, J., & Kneeshaw, D. D. (2015). Climate-induced changes in host tree-insect phenology may drive ecological state-shift in boreal forests. Ecology (Durham), 96(6), 1480-1491. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2366.1.

Pureswaran, D. S., Neau, M., Marchand, M., De Grandpré, L., & Kneeshaw, D. (2019;2018;). Phenological synchrony between eastern spruce budworm and its host trees increases with warmer temperatures in the boreal forest. Ecology and Evolution, 9(1), 576-586. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4779.

Pureswaran, D. S., Roques, A., & Battisti, A. (2018). Forest insects and climate change. Current Forestry Reports, 4(2), 35-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-018-0075-6.

Raffa, K. F., Aukema, B. H., Bentz, B. J., Carroll, A. L., Hicke, J. A., Turner, M. G., & Romme, W. H. (2008). Cross-scale drivers of natural disturbances prone to anthropogenic amplification: The dynamics of bark beetle eruptions. Bioscience, 58(6), 501-517. https://doi.org/10.1641/B580607. Refsland, T. K., & Cushman, J. H. (2021). Continentwide synthesis of the long-term population dynamics of quaking aspen in the face of accelerating human impacts. Oecologia, 197(1), 25-42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-021-05013-7.

Régnière, J., St-Amant, R., & Duval, P. (2012). Predicting insect distributions under climate change from physiological responses: Spruce budworm as an example. Biological Invasions, 14(8), 1571-1586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-010-9918-1.

Robbins, Z. J., Xu, C., Aukema, B. H., Buotte, P. C., Chitra-Tarak, R., Fettig, C. J., Goulden, M. L., Goodsman, D. W., Hall, A. D., Koven, C. D., Kueppers, L. M., Madakumbura, G. D., Mortenson, L. A., Powell, J. A., & Scheller, R. M. (2022). Warming increased bark beetle-induced tree mortality by 30% during an extreme drought in California. Global Change Biology, 28(2), 509-523. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15927.

Ryall, K. L., & Smith, S. M. (2001). Bark and woodboring beetle response in red pine (Pinus resinosa ait.) plantations damaged by the 1998 ice storm: Preliminary observations. Forestry Chronicle, 77(4), 657-660. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc77657-4.

Ryall, K. L., & Smith, S. M. (2005). Patterns of damage and mortality in red pine plantations following a major ice storm. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 35(2), 487-493. https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-180.

Ryall, K. L., De Groot, P., & Smith, S. M. (2006). Sequential patterns of colonization of coarse woody debris by ips pini (say) (coleoptera: Scolytidae) following a major ice storm in Ontario. Agricultural and Forest Entomology, 8(2), 89-95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-9555.2006.00287.x. Sánchez-Pinillos, M., D'Orangeville, L., Boulanger, Y., Comeau, P., Wang, J., Taylor, A. R., & Kneeshaw, D. (2022). Sequential droughts: A silent trigger of boreal forest mortality. Global Change Biology, 28(2), 542-556. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15913.

Sambaraju, K. R., Carroll, A. L., & Aukema, B. H. (2019). Multiyear weather anomalies associated with range shifts by the mountain pine beetle preceding large epidemics. Forest Ecology and Management, 438, 86-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.02.011.

Sato, H., Chaste, E., Girardin M.P., Kaplan, J.O., Hely C., Candau, J.N., and Mayor, S.J., (2022) Dynamically simulating spruce budworm in eastern Canada and its interactions with wildfire (under review in Ecological Modelling).

Seidl, R., Thom, D., Kautz, M., Martin-Benito, D., Peltoniemi, M., Vacchiano, G., Wild, J., Ascoli, D., Petr, M., Honkaniemi, J., Lexer, M. J., Trotsiuk, V., Mairota, P., Svoboda, M., Fabrika, M., Nagel, T. A., & Reyer, C. P. O. (2017). Forest disturbances under climate change. Nature Climate Change, 7(6), 395-402. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3303.

Six, D. L., Vergobbi, C., & Cutter, M. (2018). Are survivors different? genetic-based selection of trees by mountain pine beetle during a climate change-driven outbreak in a high-elevation pine forest. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 993-993. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00993.

Smith, J. M., Paritsis, J., Veblen, T. T., & Chapman, T. B. (2015). Permanent forest plots show accelerating tree mortality in subalpine forests of the Colorado front range from 1982 to 2013. Forest Ecology and Management, 341, 8-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.12.031. Srivastava, D. S., Coristine, L., Angert, A. L., Bontrager, M., Amundrud, S. L., Williams, J. L., Yeung, A. C. Y., Zwaan, D. R., Thompson, P. L., Aitken, S. N., Sunday, J. M., O'Connor, M. I., Whitton, J., Brown, N. E. M., MacLeod, C. D., Parfrey, L. W., Bernhardt, J. R., Carrillo, J., Harley, C. D. G., ... Donner, S. D. (2021). Wildcards in climate change biology. Ecological Monographs, 91(4), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1471.

Stocks, B. J. (1987). Fire potential in the sprucebudworm damaged forests of Ontario. The Forestry Chronicle, 63(1), 8-14.

Sturrock, R. N., Frankel, S. J., Brown, A. V., Hennon, P. E., Kliejunas, J. T., Lewis, K. J., Worrall, J. J., & Woods, A. J. (2011). Climate change and forest diseases. Plant Pathology, 60(1), 133-149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2010.02406.x. Sturtevant, B. R., & Fortin, M. (2021). Understanding and modeling forest disturbance interactions at the landscape level. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution,

9https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2021.653647.

Sturtevant, B. R., Miranda, B. R., Shinneman, D. J., Gustafson, E. J., & Wolter, P. T. (2012). Comparing modern and pre-settlement forest dynamics of a subboreal wilderness: Does spruce budworm enhance fire risk? Ecological Applications, 22(4), 1278-1296.

Tai, A. R., & Carroll, A. L. (2022). In the pursuit of synchrony: Northward shifts in western spruce budworm outbreaks in a warming environment. Frontiers in Forests and Global Change, 5https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2022.895579.

Taylor, A. R., Boulanger, Y., Price, D. T., Cyr, D., McGarrigle, E., Rammer, W., & Kershaw, J. A. (2017). Rapid 21st century climate change projected to shift composition and growth of Canada's Acadian forest region. Forest Ecology and Management, 405, 284-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.07.033.

Teshome, D. T., Zharare, G. E., & Naidoo, S. (2020). The threat of the combined effect of biotic and abiotic stress factors in forestry under a changing climate. Frontiers in Plant Science, 11, 601009. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.601009.

Vogt, J. T. (2020). Interactions between weatherrelated disturbance and forest insects and diseases in the southern United States. (No. 255). Asheville, NC: United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station.

Volney, W. J. A., & Fleming, R. A. (2000). Climate change and impacts of boreal forest insects. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 82(1), 283-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(00)00232-2.

Wang, W., Peng, C., Kneeshaw, D. D., Larocque, G. R., & Luo, Z. (2012). Drought-induced tree mortality: Ecological consequences, causes, and modeling. Environmental Reviews, 20(2), 109-121. https://doi.org/10.1139/a2012-004.

Ward, S. F., Eidson, E. L., Kees, A. M., Venette, R. C., & Aukema, B. H. (2020). Allopatric populations of the invasive larch casebearer differ in cold tolerance and phenology. Ecological Entomology, 45(1), 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1111/een.12773.

Wayman, R. B., & Safford, H. D. (2021). Recent bark beetle outbreaks influence wildfire severity in mixed-conifer forests of the Sierra Nevada, California, USA. Ecological Applications, 31(3), e02287-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2287. Welsh, C., Lewis, K. J., & Woods, A. J. (2014). Regional outbreak dynamics of Dothistroma needle blight linked to weather patterns in British Columbia, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 44(3), 212-219. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2013-0387.

Whitman, E., Parisien, M., Thompson, D. K., & Flannigan, M. D. (2019). Short-interval wildfire and drought overwhelm boreal forest resilience. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 18796-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55036-7.

Woods, A. J., Heppner, D., Kope, H. H., Burleigh, J., & Maclauchlan, L. (2010). Forest health and climate change: A British Columbia perspective. Forestry Chronicle, 86(4), 412-422. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc86412-4.

Worrall, J. J., Rehfeldt, G. E., Hamann, A., Hogg, E. H., Marchetti, S. B., Michaelian, M., & Gray, L. K. (2013). Recent declines of Populus tremuloides in north America linked to climate. Forest Ecology and Management, 299, 35-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.12.033.

Zhang, X., Lei, Y., Ma, Z., Kneeshaw, D., & Peng, C. (2014). Insect-induced tree mortality of boreal forests in eastern Canada under a changing climate. Ecology and Evolution, 4(12), 2384-2394.

LITERATURE NOT CITED

The following are provided for information purposes given their relevance to the topic of conceptual advances in disturbance interactions.

Climate Change

Anderegg, W. R. L., Trugman, A. T., Badgley, G., Anderson, C. M., Bartuska, A., Ciais, P., Cullenward, D., Field, C. B., Freeman, J., Goetz, S. J., Hicke, J. A., Huntzinger, D., Jackson, R. B., Nickerson, J., Pacala, S., & Randerson, J. T. (2020). Climatedriven risks to the climate mitigation potential of forests. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science), 368(6497) https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz7005.

Battisti, A., Stastny, M., Buffo, E., & Larsson, S. (2006). Rapid altitudinal range expansion in the pine processionary moth produced by the 2003 climatic anomaly. Global Change Biology, 12(4), 662-671. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01124.x.

Battisti, A., Stastny, M., Netherer, S., Robinet, C., Schopf, A., Roques, A., & Larsson, S. (2005). Expansion of geographic range in the pine processionary moth caused by increased winter temperatures. Ecological Applications, 15(6), 2084-2096. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1903.

Candau, J., & Fleming, R. A. (2011). Forecasting the response of spruce budworm defoliation to climate change in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 41(10), 1948-1960. https://doi.org/10.1139/x11-134.

Eagar, C., Adams, M. B., SpringerLINK eBooks -English/International Collection (Archive), & SpringerLink (Online service). (1992). In Eagar C., Adams M. B.(Eds.), Ecology and decline of red spruce in the eastern United States. Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-2906-3.

Fuentealba, A., Pureswaran, D., Bauce, É., & Despland, E. (2017). How does synchrony with host plant affect the performance of an outbreaking insect defoliator? Oecologia, 184(4), 847-857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-017-3914-4. Hepting, G. H. (1963). Climate and forest diseases. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 1(1), 31-50. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.py.01.090163.0003 35.

Hogg, E. H., & Michaelian, M. (2015). Factors affecting fall down rates of dead aspen (Populus tremuloides) biomass following severe drought in west -central Canada. Global Change Biology, 21(5), 1968-1979. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12805.

Huang, J., Kautz, M., Trowbridge, A. M., Hammerbacher, A., Raffa, K. F., Adams, H. D., Goodsman, D. W., Xu, C., Meddens , A. J. H., Kandasamy, D., Gershenzon, J., Seidl, R., & Hartmann, H. (2020). Tree defence and bark beetles in a drying world: Carbon partitioning, functioning, and modelling. The New Phytologist, 225(1), 26-36. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16173.

Hubbart, J. A., Guyette, R., Muzika, R., UT-Battelle LLC/ORNL, Oak Ridge, TN (United States), & Univ. of Missouri, Columbia, MO (United States). (2016). More than drought: Precipitation variance, excessive wetness, pathogens, and the future of the western edge of the eastern deciduous forest. The Science of the Total Environment, 566-567(C) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.108.

Jepsen, J. U., Hagen, S. B., Ims, R. A., & Yoccoz, N. G. (2008). Climate change and outbreaks of the geometrids Operophtera brumata and Epirrita autumnata in subarctic birch forest: Evidence of a recent outbreak range expansion. The Journal of Animal Ecology, 77(2), 257-264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01339.x.

Jepsen, J. U., Kapari, L., Hagen, S. B., Schott, T., Vindstad, O. P. L., Nilssen, A. C., & Ims, R. A. (2011). Rapid northwards expansion of a forest insect pest attributed to spring phenology matching with subarctic birch. Global Change Biology, 17(6), 20712083. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02370.x.

Kliejunas, J. T. (2011). A risk assessment of climate change and the impact of forest diseases on forest ecosystems in the western United States and Canada. GTR-236.Albany, CA: U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station.

Kneeshaw, D. D., Sturtevant, B. R., DeGrandpé, L., Doblas-Miranda, E., James, P. M. A., Tardif, D., & Burton, P. J. (2021). The vision of managing for pest-resistant landscapes: Realistic or utopic? Current Forestry Reports, 7(2), 97-113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-021-00140-z.

Kosiba, A. M., Schaberg, P. G., Rayback, S. A., & Hawley, G. J. (2018). The surprising recovery of red spruce growth shows links to decreased acid deposition and elevated temperature. The Science of the Total Environment, 637-638, 1480-1491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.010.

Lautenschlager, R. A., & Nielsen , C. (1999). Ontario's forest science efforts following the 1998 ice storm. Forestry Chronicle, 75(4), 633-641. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc75633-4. Marini, L., Ayres, M. P., Battisti, A., & Faccoli, M. (2012). Climate affects severity and altitudinal distribution of outbreaks in an eruptive bark beetle. Climatic Change, 115(2), 327-341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0463-z.

Mattson, W. J., & Haack, R. A. (1987). The role of drought in outbreaks of plant-eating insects. Bioscience, 37(2), 110-118. https://doi.org/10.2307/131036.

Ouimet, R., Moore, J., Duchesne, L., & Camire, C. (2012). Etiology of a recent white spruce decline:

Role of potassium deficiency, past disturbances, and climate change. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 43(1), 66-77. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2293.

Portalier, S. M. J., Candau, J., & Lutscher, F. (2022). A temperature-driven model of phenological mismatch provides insights into the potential impacts of climate change on consumer-resource interactions. Ecography (Copenhagen), 2022(8), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.06259.

Price, D. T., Alfaro, R. I., Brown, K. J., Flannigan, M. D., Fleming, R. A., Hogg, E. H., Girardin, M. P., Lakusta, T., Johnston, M., McKenney, D. W., Pedlar, J. H., Stratton, T., Sturrock, R. N., Thompson, I. D., Trofymow, J. A., & Venier, L. A. (2013). Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems. Environmental Reviews, 21(4), 322-365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0042</u>.

Seidl R. (2014). The Shape of Ecosystem Management to Come: Anticipating Risks and Fostering Resilience. Bioscience. 2014 Dec 1;64(12):1159-1169. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu172doi: 10.1093/biosci/biu172. PMID: 25729079; PMCID: PMC4340566.

Seidl, R., & Rammer, W. (2017;2016;). Climate change amplifies the interactions between wind and bark beetle disturbances in forest landscapes. Landscape Ecology, 32(7), 1485-1498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0396-4.

Temperli, C., Bugmann, H., & Elkin, C. (2013). Crossscale interactions among bark beetles, climate change, and wind disturbances: A landscape modeling approach. Ecological Monographs, 83(3), 383-402. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1503.1. Temperli, C., Veblen, T. T., Hart, S. J., Kulakowski, D., & Tepley, A. J. (2015). Interactions among spruce beetle disturbance, climate change and forest dynamics captured by a forest landscape model. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 6(11), art231-20. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00394.1.

Models

Ashraf, M. I., Meng, F., Bourque, C. P., & MacLean, D. A. (2015). A novel modelling approach for predicting forest growth and yield under climate change. PloS One, 10(7), e0132066-e0132066. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132066.

Barros, C., Luo, Y., Chubaty, A. M., Eddy, I. M. S., Micheletti, T., Boisvenue, C., Andison, D. W., Cumming, S. G., & McIntire, E. J. B. (2022). Empowering ecological modellers with a PERFICT workflow: Seamlessly linking data, parameterisation, prediction, validation and visualisation. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.14034.

Disturbance Ecology

Anyomi, K. A., Neary, B., Chen, J., & Mayor, S. J. (2022). A critical review of successional dynamics in boreal forests of North America. Environmental Reviews, 30(4), 563-594. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2021-0106.

Battisti, C., Poeta, G., Fanelli, G., SpringerLink (Online service), & SpringerLINK ebooks - Earth and Environmental Science. (2016). An introduction to disturbance ecology: A road map for wildlife management and conservation. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32476-0.

Boulanger, Y., Gray, D. R., Cooke, B. J., & De Grandpré, L. (2016). Model-specification uncertainty in future forest pest outbreak. Global Change Biology, 22(4), 1595-1607. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13142.

Bowd, E. J., Banks, S. C., Bissett, A., May, T. W., Lindenmayer, D. B., & Novotny, V. (2021). Direct and indirect disturbance impacts in forests. Ecology Letters, 24(6), 1225-1236. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13741.

Garmestani, A., Twidwell, D., Angeler, D. G., Sundstrom, S., Barichievy, C., Chaffin, B. C., Eason, T., Graham, N., Granholm, D., Gunderson, L., Knutson, M., Nash, K. L., Nelson, R. J., Nystrom, M., Spanbauer, T. L., Stow, C. A., Allen, C. R., & Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. (2020). Panarchy: Opportunities and challenges for ecosystem management. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 18(10), 576-583. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2264.

Gunderson, L. (2008). panarchy. Encyclopedia of ecology (Second ed., pp. 612-616). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63768-0.00695-8.

Kulakowski, D., Buma, B., Guz, J., & Hayes, K. (2013). The ecology of forest disturbances. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11878-0.

Lucash, M. S., Scheller, R. M., Sturtevant, B. R., Gustafson, E. J., Kretchun, A. M., & Foster, J. R. (2018). More than the sum of its parts: How disturbance interactions shape forest dynamics under climate change. Ecosphere (Washington, D.C), 9(6), n/a. Munson, S. M., Reed, S. C., Peñuelas, J., McDowell, N. G., Sala, O. E., & Pacific Northwest National Lab. (PNNL), Richland, WA (United States). (2018). Ecosystem thresholds, tipping points, and critical transitions. The New Phytologist, 218(4), 1315-1317. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15145.

Romme, W. H., Everham, E. H., Frelich, L. E., Moritz, M. A., & Sparks, R. E. (1998). Are large, infrequent disturbances qualitatively different from small, frequent disturbances? Ecosystems (New York), 1(6), 524-534.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s100219900048.

Seidl, R., & Turner, M. G. (2022). Post-disturbance reorganization of forest ecosystems in a changing world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS, 119(28), 1-e2202190119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2202190119.

Sousa, W. P. (1984). The role of disturbance in natural communities. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 15(1), 353-391. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.15.110184.00203 3.

APPENDIX - GLOSSARY OF DISTURBANCE INTERACTIONS

From: Burton, P. J., Jentsch, A., & Walker, L. R. (2020). The ecology of disturbance interactions. Bioscience, 70(10), 854-870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa088</u>, unless otherwise noted.

Biological Legacy	Biotic characteristic (biomass, structure, or function) or imprint of an ecosystem that remains after a disturbance			
Cascade	A sequence of more than two disturbances, each triggered by the preceding one; can be a single pathway (chain) or a set of interacting pathways (network)			
Chain	See Cascade			
Compound Disturbances	Multiple disturbance events that occur without sufficient time for ecosystem recovery between them			
Cumulative Effects	The net impact of multiple stressors, disturbances, or degradation, which may be additive or synergistic			
Disturbance Event	Relatively abrupt change in resource availability or ecological structure or function, often associated with the conversion of live to dead biomass			
Disturbance Agent	Type of disturbance, such as volcanic eruption, landslide, flood, fire, herbivory, or cultivation			
Disturbance Regime	The combination of disturbance agents and disturbance attributes that characterize a particular landscape or region			
Ecosystem Recovery	Process of returning to a predisturbance or alternative condition regarding biomass, structure, function or species composition; see Succession			
Extreme Events	Severe and statistically infrequent disturbances, leaving sparse biological legacies; see Biological Legacy			
Interaction	The alteration of one disturbance (e.g., probability, extent, or severity) by a previous or co-occurring disturbance			
Lag	Temporal delay between two sequential events, or between a trigger and a response			
Link	When one disturbance is a causal factor in the occurrence or attributes of a subsequent disturbance			
Loop	A sequence of linked disturbances that returns an ecosystem to a previous condition			
Network	See Cascade			
Reference Conditions or Reference Dynamics	Attributes of an ecosystem prior to a disturbance or a change in disturbance regime			
Resilience	Capacity to recover to pre-disturbance conditions (Kleinman et al. 2019)			
Resistance	Capacity to endure disturbance without changing (Kleinman et al. 2019)			
Succession	Change in species composition over time, generally triggered by a disturbance; see Ecosystem Recovery			
Threshold	Level of stress or disturbance intensity that results in an abrupt or qualitative system change, such as mortality or disturbance propagation			

THIS DOCUMENT IS A PRODUCT OF THE CANADIAN COUNCIL OF FOREST MINISTERS' FOREST PEST WORKING GROUP (2023).

Cet ouvrage est publié en français sous le titre: Examen des avancées conceptuelles en matière d'interactions entre les perturbations. Étape 1 :Synthèse des connaissances, lacunes en matière de connaissances et prochaines étapes

For more information, please contact the Forest Pest Working Group secretariat: **PRMintegrationhub-equipeintegrationGRR@nrcan-rncan.gc.ca**